AS

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_

Appeal from Cherokee County

G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED  
SEP 02 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MATTHEW S. MEDLEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001499

\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_\_

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in admitting incriminating statements from appellant, in violation of the rules in Missouri v. Siebert<sup>1</sup> and State v. Navy<sup>2</sup> regarding alcohol consumption because the police asked appellant how much he had been drinking after they took him into custody and before reading him his Miranda<sup>3</sup> rights?

---

<sup>1</sup> 542 U.S. 600 (2004).

<sup>2</sup> 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010).

<sup>3</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 8, 2013, a Cherokee County grand jury indicted appellant for failure to stop for a blue light and DUI second. R. 163. On June 10, 2014, appellant was tried before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker and a jury. R. 1. Matt Kendall represented the State. R. 1. Michael Berry represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 153, ll. 1 – 12. On the DUI charge, Judge Welmaker sentenced appellant to five years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of 27 months and five years' probation. The court sentenced appellant to a consecutive term of three years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of three months and probation for the failure to stop for a blue light charge. R. 159, l. 24 – 160, l. 2. The court also revoked appellant's probation on another charge, sentenced him to one year's imprisonment, and terminated that probation. R. 159, ll. 9 – 12. The sentences described above were made consecutive to the probation revocation sentence. R. 159, ll. 22 – 23. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in admitting incriminating statements from appellant, in violation of the rules in Missouri v. Siebert<sup>4</sup> and State v. Navy<sup>5</sup> regarding alcohol consumption because the police asked appellant how much he had been drinking after they took him into custody and before reading him his Miranda<sup>6</sup> rights.

### **Relevant Facts**

After midnight on April 21, 2013, the police were working at a DUI checkpoint in a remote part of Cherokee County. R. 30, l. 24 – 31, l. 16. The police saw a man on a motorcycle run a stop sign and speed away from the checkpoint. R. 31, l. 8 – 32, l. 7. Two police officers gave chase in separate cars. R. 32, ll. 8 – 11. R. 49, ll. 16 – 21.

The cameras in both cars recorded the high-speed chase. R. 49, ll. 22 – 23. R. 32, ll. 15 – 19. (State’s Ex. 1) (State’s Ex. 2). The top speed reached during the chase was 109 mph. R. 37, ll. 5 – 8. Considering the high rate of speed, during the chase the video shows appellant in full command of the motorcycle. (State’s Ex. 1) (State’s Ex. 2). The chase ended at appellant’s parents’ house. R. 53, l. 24 – 54, l. 13. One of the police officers “ran up on the porch and got him and put him on the ground.” R. 54, ll. 2 – 6. State’s Ex. 1).

On the video, the first thing that can be heard when the chase ends is an officer yelling, “Get on the ground!” (State’s Exhibit 2). The officer shouts at appellant’s family to “Back up! Back up!” (State’s Exhibit 2). He keeps yelling, “Get down! Get down!” (State’s Exhibit 2). The officer tells appellant to “Shut up!” (State’s Exhibit 2).

---

<sup>4</sup> 542 U.S. 600 (2004).

<sup>5</sup> 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010).

<sup>6</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

The officer says, "Fuckin' out here gone kill somebody!" (State's Exhibit 2). Appellant's parents ask a question about what happened and the officer replies, "Fuckin' hundred miles an hour through two states, you idiot." (State's Exhibit 2).

The officer asks appellant, "You got a damn license?" (State's Exhibit 2). He then asks, "How much you had to drink?" (State's Exhibit 2). Appellant replies, "Too much." (State's Exhibit 2). The officer repeats it back to him: "Too much?" (State's Exhibit 2). Either an officer or dispatch can be heard saying, "Suspect in custody." (State's Exhibit 2). After a brief moment of radio chatter, the officer reads appellant his Miranda rights. (State's Exhibit 2).

Later, when appellant is in the back of the police car, the officer asks him how much he had to drink that day and appellant replies he doesn't know. (State's Exhibit 2). The officer tells him, "Estimate." (State's Exhibit 2). Appellant says, "I couldn't tell you." (State's Exhibit 2). The officer asks him if he had more than ten. (State's Exhibit 2). Appellant replies, "No, sir." (State's Exhibit 2). The officer asks, "More than five?" (State's Exhibit 2). Appellant replies, "About four." (State's Exhibit 2). The officer says, "I believe you had more than that." (State's Exhibit 2).

Pre-trial, the court held a hearing pursuant to Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964). R. 6, ll. 19 – 20. The attorneys told the trial judge that no dispute existed about what was said and pointed out the parts of the video that were relevant to the motion. R. 7, l. 4 – 11, l. 3. Judge Welmaker reviewed the video during a break. R. 13, ll. 16 – 20.

The court then heard argument. R. 13, l. 21 – 24, l. 9. Citing Siebert and Navy, appellant argued the incriminating statements were inadmissible because the officer asked appellant how much he had consumed before reading him his Miranda rights. R.

15, l. 16 – 21, l. 22. Defense counsel explained each point as to why the statements were inadmissible under Siebert and Navy. R. 17, l. 8 – 19, l. 8. The solicitor conceded that appellant was in custody, but argued that the officers did not interrogate appellant:

I would also argue with respect to the first one, that, again, that he may have been in custody in the sense he was physically restrained, and he was, he was physically restrained at that time, I think the officers had a reasonable – had the right to try to make a reasonable determination as to what was happening.

R. 20, ll. 12 – 17. The solicitor later argued that the officer, “had the right to find out what was going on. . . .” R. 22, ll. 3 – 4. The trial court ruled the statements were admissible. R. 23, l. 9 – 24, l. 9. Appellant contemporaneously objected when the State sought to admit the statements during the trial. R. 54, ll. 21 – 24. R. 59, ll. 15 – 17.

### **Discussion**

As in almost all DUI trials, the central factual question in this case was how much alcohol appellant had consumed. The police asked this question when it was conceded that appellant was in custody, but before they gave appellant any Miranda warnings. Not just appellant’s response to the pre-Miranda question should have been excluded—the responses to post-Miranda questions about his alcohol consumption should have been excluded pursuant to Siebert and Navy.

In Missouri v. Siebert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004), the United States Supreme Court condemned a deliberate practice used in police departments throughout the country meant to circumvent Miranda. Siebert at 610-12 and n.2. The Court cited the Police Law Institute’s manual which instructed officers to use a “two-stage interrogation” and not give Miranda warnings until after arrestees have confessed. Id. at 610. The Court listed

multiple sources advising officers on how to obtain confessions and then curing the failure to give Miranda warnings. Id. at 610 n.2.

The Court called this practice “question-first” and rejected the notion that the subsequent giving of Miranda warnings could transmute these confessions into admissible evidence. Id. at 610-13. “By any objective measure . . . it is likely that if the interrogators employ the technique of withholding warnings until after interrogation succeeds in eliciting a confession, the warnings will be ineffective in preparing the suspect for successive interrogation, close in time and similar in content.” Id. at 613. “After all, the reason that question-first is catching on is as obvious as its manifest purpose, which is to get a confession the suspect would not make if he understood his rights at the outset.” Id. “Upon hearing warnings only in the aftermath of interrogation and just after making a confession, a suspect would hardly think he had a genuine right to remain silent, let alone persist in so believing once the police began to lead him over the same ground again.” Id.

The police in Siebert were surprisingly honest and admitted they were deliberately using the two-phase question-first strategy. Id. at 605-05. “Because the intent of the officer will rarely be as candidly admitted as it was here (even as it is likely to determine the conduct of the interrogation), the focus is on facts apart from intent that show the question-first tactic at work.” Id. at 617 n.6.

Because appellant was in custody, Miranda warnings were required. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 478-79. The State conceded during the Denno hearing that appellant was in custody. R. 20, ll. 12 – 17. In his opening statement, the solicitor stated that the officers

“chased [appellant] down at that point and placed him under arrest. He was asked how much he had to drink. He said too much.” R. 26, ll. 3 – 9.

The trial court ruled that the question of how much appellant had been drinking did not constitute an interrogation because it was “for health issues, for safety issues.” R. 23, l. 13 – 24, l. 3. No such exception to Miranda exists. Regardless, the question about appellant’s drinking could only elicit an incriminating response. Miranda warnings were required. Because the questions post-Miranda were on exactly the same topic and occurred approximately twenty minutes after the illegal questioning, the rules from Seibert and Navy require the suppression of appellant’s answers. The subsequent warnings cannot cure the earlier failure to warn, otherwise the rule in Seibert would be meaningless. The court erred in admitting these statements.

Admission of these statements prejudiced appellant.<sup>7</sup> Appellant refused the breathalyzer, so no evidence of his blood alcohol content was admitted. R. 65, ll., 2 – 4. Appellant was driving with a suspended license, so he had a reason to flee the checkpoint other than being intoxicated. R. 79, ll. 6 – 22. The video showed appellant in control of his motorcycle, which requires far more dexterity and balance than a car. (State’s Ex. 1). Appellant was not belligerent towards the officers and acted respectfully. (State’s Ex. 2). R. 84, ll. 2 – 21. The officer’s assertions that appellant had glassy eyes and slurred speech were impeached by their omission in his report. R. 81, l. 23 – 82, l. 17.

Finally, the solicitor’s closing argument demonstrates the importance of appellant’s erroneously admitted statements. R. 119, l. 20 – 120, l. 12. The solicitor told the jury, “But most importantly, and most obviously, what shows he’s intoxicated is what

---