ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from Cherokee County
The Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-001499

SEP 02 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW S. MEDLEY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Staff Attorney

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia St.
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Cherokee County
The Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly admitted Appellant's incriminating statements because the statements were not made in response to an interrogation. Any error by the judge in their admission is harmless, however, as the State provided overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt without regard to the statements.

Appellant contends the statement should not have been admitted because he was subject to a custodial interrogation and had not been informed of his constitutional rights pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1996), when he made the first statement. He further claims the second, post Miranda incriminating statement should have been excluded pursuant to Missouri v. Seibert³ and State v Navy⁴ because the statement was the result of the prohibited two step interrogation technique. Appellant's argument fails, however. Though the State conceded Appellant was in custody at the time he offered the statements, Lieutenant Mullinax's first rhetorical, exclamatory statements were not interrogation, nor were the second conversational questions in the back of the patrol car. Even if this Court concludes the statements are inadmissible, their admission at trial was harmless, as the State presented overwhelming evidence Appellant was intoxicated the night of his arrest.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Decisions to admit or exclude evidence rest in the sound discretion of the trial judge and will only be reversed on appeal for an abuse of discretion. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C.

³ 542 U.S. 600 (2004)

⁴ 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010)

319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011). “On appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 429, 510 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1998). “[T]he appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based upon its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 652 S.E.2d 444 (2008).

Analysis

A. Miranda Interrogation Requirement

Respondent submits the trial court properly admitted Appellant’s statement finding Appellant was not subject to a custodial interrogation at the time he made the statement. The findings of the trial court in this regard are supported by the record and must be affirmed by this Court.

The Miranda warnings are designed to protect several constitutional rights of an accused, most importantly, the privilege against self-incrimination. State v. Howard, 296 S.C. 481, 374 S.E.2d 284 (1988). In order to assure that an accused's right to remain silent is not compromised during custodial interrogation, the United States Supreme Court ruled that “[p]rior to any questioning, the person must be warned that he has a right to remain silent, that any statement he does make may be used as evidence against him, and that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, either retained or appointed.”

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). “A statement, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, obtained as a result of custodial interrogation is inadmissible unless the person was advised of and voluntarily waived his rights under Miranda” State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 302, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996) aff’d as modified, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998).

The special procedural safeguards outlined in Miranda are not required if a suspect is simply taken into custody, but only if a suspect in custody is subjected to interrogation. State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 303, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996) aff’d as modified, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998). The interrogation requirement of Miranda is met by express questioning or its functional equivalent, and includes words or actions the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit incriminating responses from a criminal suspect. Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291 (1980); State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 382 S.E.2d 911 (1989); State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998). Volunteered statements not made in response to custodial interrogation do not require Miranda warnings. Arizona v. Mauro, 481 U.S. 520 (1987). Miranda warnings are inapplicable to volunteered statements not the product of interrogation. State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 382 S.E.2d 911 (1989). In State v. Howard, the court stated:

In formulating a definition of interrogation, the [Innis] Court pointed out that “the concern of the Court in Miranda was that the ‘interrogation environment’ created by the interplay of interrogation and custody would ‘subjugate the individual to the will of his examiner’ and thereby undermine the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination.” The Court noted that interrogation must reflect a measure of compulsion above and beyond that inherent in custody itself.

296 S.C. at 488, 374 S.E.2d at 288 (emphasis added).

When courts make an objective determination of whether police statements would be perceived as interrogation by a reasonable person in the same circumstances, courts have distinguished between statements that merely rephrase a defendant's remarks or constitute rhetorical questions, see Commonwealth v. Foley, 833 N.E.2d 130 (2005), cert. denied, 548 U.S. 927 (2006), and those that are aimed at eliciting information likely to be incriminating. See Commonwealth v. Larkin, 708 N.E.2d 674 (1999). Commonwealth v. Martin, 467 Mass. 291, 309 (2014). Compare Commonwealth v. Mitchell, 711 N.E.2d 924 (1999) (statement commenting on poor timing of defendant's arrest merely an "observation"), with Commonwealth v. Chadwick, 664 N.E.2d 874 (1996) (officer's statement disputing defendant's denial of rape charges was functional equivalent of custodial interrogation). Martin, 467 Mass. 291 at 309.

In Commonwealth v. Foley, following the defendant's arrest, the defendant was loud, screaming, and "motioning aggressively" while he was handcuffed in the backseat of a police car. 833 N.E.2d 130, 133(2005). Observing the defendant's antics, an officer commented: "You seem pissed off...[a]re you having a rough day man?" Id. In response, the defendant exclaimed: "I choked her out, but she deserved it" and "I should beat her f'ing brains in." Id. The defendant argued his statements should be excluded because he made the statements in response to interrogation before being advised of his Miranda rights. Id. The court concluded the officer's question was merely rhetorical. Thus, the officer's question did not constitute the functional equivalent of interrogation and was not likely to elicit an incriminating response. Id. at 133.

In Smith v. United States, an inmate convicted of various weapons offenses in a penal institution challenged the admissibility of his statement to a corrections officer, which he contended was a product of custodial interrogation obtained without Miranda

warnings. 586 A.2d 684 (D.C. Cir. 1991). The corrections officer conducted a “property check” on the appellant to ensure the appellant did not carry contraband into the halfway house. Id. at 685. The corrections officer became suspicious of the shoe box that appellant left on his bathroom floor because the appellant seemed to be concealing the shoebox from the officer. Id. After a struggle ensued with the appellant, the officer eventually opened the shoebox and observed it contained a handgun, ammunition, and a clip. Id. In shock, the officer yelled: “Man, are you crazy. You got a gun in here. What the hell are you going to do with a gun in here?” Id. The appellant responded: “I need it to protect myself.” Id. The District of Columbia Court of Appeals characterized the officer’s remark as an “instinctive question” asked “. . . reflexively in a context of wonderment,” as opposed to one that would be likely to elicit an incriminating response. Id. The court noted the officer’s question – more in the nature of an exclamation than a question – was a “reflex reaction” to his discovery of a gun inside the box appellant brought into the halfway house, and did not qualify as interrogation for purposes of Miranda. Id.

Similar to the officer’s question in Smith and in Foley, Mullinax’s question was merely a rhetorical and reflexive action following the chaos of the high speed chase and apprehension. Also analogous to the remarks in Smith, Mullinax’s question to Appellant about his drinking was instinctive, and made “in a context of wonderment.” The Supreme Court of the United States noted in Innis one of the main purposes of Miranda warnings is to protect against a compulsive “interrogation environment” that subjects the individual “to the will of his examiner.” Howard, 296 S.C. at 488, 374 S.E.2d at 288. Mullinax’s spontaneous, reflexive remarks do not create the “interrogation” environment the Supreme Court of the United States envisioned to prevent. See Smith, 586 A.2d at

686 (“we regard appellant’s ‘instantaneous response’ as ‘more akin to a volunteered statement which Miranda deems admissible than an incriminatory statement wrung from an accused [whose will] is overborne” [internal citations omitted]). Mullinax’s statements were not made with the intention of interrogating Appellant but were rhetorical, unpremeditated exclamations of disbelief made in the heat of the moment and which did not call for an answer or invite an incriminating response. U.S. v. Johnson, 734 F.3d 270 (4th Cir. 2013); U.S. v. Farlee, 910 F.Supp2d 1174 (D.S.Dakota 2012); Wert v. State, 383 S.W.3d 747 (TX 2012).

Thus, the trial court properly concluded that Appellant did not make the first statement in response to an interrogation, and the statement was admissible.

B. Public Safety Exception to Miranda

Should the court conclude the statements made by Mullinax were interrogative in nature, the State submits the questions fall within the public safety exception to Miranda delineated in New York v. Quarles 467 U.S. 649 (1984). In Quarles, a woman approached two police officers who were on road patrol and told them that she had just been raped. Id. at 649. The victim described her assailant, and told them that the man had just entered a nearby supermarket and was carrying a gun. Id. While one of the officers radioed for assistance, the other entered the store and saw the defendant, who ran toward the rear of the store. Id. The officer pursued him but lost sight of him for several seconds. Id. Upon apprehending the defendant, the officer frisked him and discovered that he was wearing an empty shoulder holster. Id. After handcuffing him, the officer asked him where the gun was. Id. Defendant nodded toward some empty cartons and responded that “the gun is over there.” Id. The officer then retrieved the gun from one of the cartons,

formally arrested respondent, and read him his Miranda rights. Id. The court created a public safety exception to the Miranda warnings, saying:

The need for answers to questions in a situation posing a threat to the public safety outweighs the need for the prophylactic rule protecting the Fifth Amendment's privilege against self-incrimination. We decline to place officers such as Officer Kraft in the untenable position of having to consider, often in a matter of seconds, whether it best serves society for them to ask the necessary questions without the Miranda warnings and render whatever probative evidence they uncover inadmissible, or for them to give the warnings in order to preserve the admissibility of evidence they might uncover but possibly damage or destroy their ability to obtain that evidence and neutralize the volatile situation confronting them.

New York v. Quarles 467 U.S. 649 (1984).

The trial court judge applied this reasoning in the instant case. Appellant led officers on a two state, high speed chase in which at least one beer can came flying off the back of his motorcycle, and he was traveling in excess of one hundred miles per hour. When he finally stopped the motorcycle, he did not surrender peacefully, but instead ran to someone's front porch. Officers had to pull Appellant off of the porch to detain him, and the commotion attracted bystanders within close proximity to the arrest. The officers had good reason to believe he was under the influence of some intoxicant, but they did not know the nature or the amount of the substance Appellant consumed. For his safety, and for those of the bystanders around them, the officers needed to assess the volatile situation quickly. Mullinax had Appellant on the ground, but Appellant had just evaded arrest in the moments before, and he could have posed a flight risk again. The officers, in attempting to make sense of the situation, might have needed emergency medical services for Appellant or sensed a greater danger to themselves, depending on the Appellant's level of intoxication. As in Quarles, the officers found themselves in "a kaleidoscopic

situation... where spontaneity rather than adherence to a police manual [was] necessarily the order of the day.” Id., 467 U.S. 649, 656 (1984). Appellant’s erratic, substance-driven behavior posed a threat to the arresting officers, the bystanders, and Appellant himself. Thus, should the Court find Mullinax’s initial question was asked during a custodial interrogation, the question and its incriminating response falls within the narrow public safety exception to Miranda, and is thereby admissible.

C. Post Miranda Statements

Appellant argues if the first statement concerning his drinking was the result of an impermissible Miranda violation, then his subsequent statements made in the patrol car en route to the detention center were also impermissible pursuant to Missouri v. Siebert⁵ and State v. Navy.⁶ In Siebert and Navy, the courts prohibited the two step interrogation technique in which investigators question a suspect until an incriminating statement is made, Mirandize the suspect, then continue the questioning until the suspect repeats his incriminating statement. In effect, officers are not allowed to side step the Miranda requirements by eliciting an unwarned admission, knowing the suspect is not likely to put the “cat back in the bag” once the admission is made.

In Seibert, the Court said the factors to be considered in determining whether a constitutional violation occurred in this setting are: 1) the completeness and detail of the question and answers in the first round of interrogation; 2) the timing and setting of the first questioning and the second; 3) the continuity of police personnel; and 4) the degree to which the interrogator’s questions treated the second round as continuous with the first. See also State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 302, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841-42 (2010).

⁵ 542 U.S. 600 (2004)

⁶ 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010)

Application of the Siebert analysis to this case assumes two things: 1) the first statement was impermissibly obtained during a custodial interrogation and 2) the second statement occurred during a post Miranda custodial interrogation. As argued previously in Subsections A and B, the first incriminating statement made by Appellant in response to Mullinax's exclamatory question was admissible because it was not the result of an interrogation. Should the court find, however, the first statement inadmissible, the court should nonetheless allow the later statements in the patrol car to stand because Appellant volunteered the information about his alcohol consumption.

During the return to the detention center following his arrest, Appellant initiated conversation with Mullinax on multiple occasions. Indeed, Appellant was determined to engage the officer, though Mullinax seemed to concentrate heavily on finding his way around the rural roads. Appellant is heard rambling in the background, eliciting a response from Mullinax only on occasion. Ultimately, when Appellant casually volunteered "I don't drink much anymore, man," Mullinax was caught off guard. (State's Exhibit 2, 31:29.) Mullinax does not hear him clearly, and says "What's that?" and Appellant repeats the statement. (State's Exhibit 2, 31:32.) Mullinax then asked him how much he had that day, and Appellant responded. "I didn't keep count." (State's Exhibit 2, 31:37.) In their discussion, Appellant stated he drank about four and one half beers. (R. p. 61, lines 14-17, (State's Exhibit 2, 32:13.) The conversation was not an interrogation, as Appellant contends, but an attempt on his part to convince Mullinax he is not a bad person. The officer was not interrogating Appellant as much as humoring him.

Should the court conclude, however, the first unwarned statement was inadmissible and the second warned statement was a result of a custodial interrogation instead of a voluntary admission, the court must apply the Siebert standard to determine

whether the second statement was so closely interwoven with the first so as to result in a constitutional violation. The statements were approximately twenty two minutes apart. (State's Exhibit 2, 9:11 and 32:13.) The first statement was not the result of a complete and detailed interrogation, but instead was made in the heat of the moment immediately following Appellant's detention. In contrast, the second statement was made in the quiet of a patrol car, in which Appellant was doing most of the talking. Finally, the second statement was in no manner contiguous with the first, as the questions were no longer asked in an excited state of disbelief, but were only in response to Appellant's volunteered comments about his drinking. Appellant had been warned, twice at this point, about his right to remain silent. Appellant may not have even remembered his response to the first question twenty minutes later, so it is doubtful Appellant felt compelled to continue to incriminate himself at the hands of a coercive police interrogative technique.

Thus, even if the first statement should not have been admitted into evidence by the trial court, the judge properly allowed the statements made after Appellant was Mirandized as a free and voluntary waiver of his rights.

D. Harmless Error

Error, if any, in refusing to suppress the statements in question is harmless because the record contains sufficient evidence of Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Lynch, 375 S.C. 628, 654 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2007)(stating that any error in failing to suppress evidence for possible Miranda violations is harmless if the record before the appellate court contains sufficient evidence to prove Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt). The record shows Appellant was under the influence of alcohol on the night of his arrest with the following evidence: 1) the dashboard video showed Appellant reckless operation of his motorcycle, as he crossed the yellow line on

numerous occasions, reached a top speed of over one hundred miles per hour, and blew through stop signs; 2) both officers who pursued Appellant testified he appeared intoxicated from his slurred speech, his glassy eyes, and his overall demeanor; 3) officers testified Appellant smelled of alcohol 4) Appellant actually asked if he could answer his cell phone during while he was on the ground surrounded by officers; 5) Appellant's saddlebags contained at least eighteen beers, in addition to the one that flew from the back of the motorcycle during the pursuit; 6) Appellant was slumped over in his chair for the duration of the breathalyzer waiting period; and 7) Appellant refused to take the breathalyzer test. Appellant's overwhelming evidence of guilt renders any possibility of a Miranda violation harmless.

Most trial errors, even those which violate a defendant's constitutional rights, are subject to harmless-error analysis. State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 246, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013), reh'g denied (Apr. 3, 2013) In State v. Easler, our supreme court intimated that any error in the failure to suppress a statement allegedly taken in violation of Miranda is subject to a harmless error analysis. 327 S.C. 121, 129, 489 S.E.2d 617, 621–22 (1997); see also State v. Newell, 303 S.C. 471, 477, 401 S.E.2d 420, 424 (Ct.App.1991) (finding failure to suppress evidence for Miranda violation harmless where record contained overwhelming evidence of guilt); State v. Lynch, 375 S.C. 628, 636, 654 S.E.2d 292, 296 (Ct.App.2007) Harmless error rules, even in dealing with constitutional errors, “serve a very useful purpose insofar as they block setting aside convictions for small errors or defects that have little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial. State v. White, 410 S.C. 56, 59-60, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728-29 (Ct. App. 2014), reh'g denied (Sept. 18, 2014), cert. denied (Mar. 19, 2015).

Appellant contends he was prejudiced by the statements because the solicitor referred to them in his closing arguments (Appellant's Brief, p. 9.) However, notwithstanding the solicitor's statement, the evidence clearly showed Appellant was under the influence of alcohol on the night of his arrest. Considering the entire record on appeal, any error by the trial judge in the admission of his statements was harmless, as the Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt was shown from multiple sources of evidence.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.